replaces petition filed on 2/19/19

FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 2/20/2019 12:28 PM SUPREME COURT NO. 96856-0

Court of Appeals No. 35288-9-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON					
STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent					
V.					
ALEJANDRO HERRERA CASTRO, Petitioner					
PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW-CORRECTED					

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 Counsel for Petitioner PO Box 829 Graham, WA 253-445-7920

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Alejandro Herrera Castro, appellant below, petitions this Court for the relief designated in Part II.

II. DECISION OF COURT OF APPEALS

Mr. Herrera Castro seeks review of the unpublished decision, State v. Herrera Castro, issued January 17, 2019, by Division Three of the Court of Appeals. A copy of the Court's opinion is attached as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Post-*Blazina* and *Ramirez*, does the trial court act without authority when it imposes discretionary legal fees without conducting an individualized inquiry at a sentence correction hearing?
- B. At a sentence correction hearing where the court imposed an additional twelve years of confinement for firearm enhancements, is the defendant entitled to allocute and request a mitigated sentence?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2007 Alejandro Herrera Castro was convicted at a jury trial of three counts of first-degree kidnapping, one count of second-degree kidnapping, four counts of assault second degree, and one

count of harassment. CP 150-151. The court imposed sentence as follows:

Count 1- 77 months including a 36-month firearm enhancement
Count 2- 122 months including a 60-month firearm enhancement
Count 3- 111 months including a 60-month firearm enhancement
Count 4- 111 months including a 60-month firearm enhancement
Count 5- 69 months including a 36-month firearm enhancement
Count 6- 69 months including a 36-month firearm enhancement
Count 7- 69 months including a 36-month firearm enhancement
Count 8- 69 months including a 36-month firearm enhancement
Count 8- 69 months including a 36-month firearm enhancement

The court ordered the time for serious violent offenses (Counts 2-4) to be served consecutive to one another, and the firearm enhancements of those counts to be served consecutive to the base sentence and each other. The court further ordered the firearm enhancements from counts 5-8 to be served concurrently with one another and concurrent to the firearm enhancement in counts 1 and 2. CP 158.

Mr. Herrera Castro appealed, and his convictions were affirmed in an unpublished decision issued on July 23, 2009. See Appeal No. 27244-3-III; 2009 WL 2187574. In 2012, Mr. Herrera

Castro filed a CrR 7.8 motion to modify and correct his judgment and sentence. CP 14-18. He raised, among other issues, the problem that his sentence was unclear, as the trial court had neglected to write in the total number of months of confinement. CP 14. The Court of Appeals dismissed his petition and issued a certificate of finality in October 2012. CP 21. In its dismissal order, the Court did not address his concern about facial invalidity based on the absence of a total number of months.

The following year Mr. Herrera Castro raised the same concern in a second personal restraint petition. CP 28. Mr. Herrera Castro argued the judgment and sentence were facially invalid because the total sentence was unclear. CP 30. The Court disagreed and outlined the sentence exactly as the trial court had imposed it, including the concurrent firearm enhancements. CP 30. The Court concluded the resulting judgment and sentence did not exceed the statutorily allowed duration and was not facially invalid on that basis. CP 30. The Court dismissed his petition as untimely and frivolous. CP 31. A certificate of finality was issued on May 31, 2013. CP 27.

On December 7, 2016, the State filed a CrR 7.8 motion to amend the sentence and judgment. CP 32-38. The State

contended the judgment and sentence was invalid on its face, as the firearm enhancements in counts 1, and 5-8 should have run consecutive to one another, not concurrent, as the sentencing court had ordered. CP 38.

At the resentencing hearing, the court found the sentence was erroneous on its face. 5/2/17 RP 21-22. The court allowed the State's motion and added 144 months of firearm enhancements to Mr. Herrera Castro's sentence. CP 44. The court imposed the same legal financial obligations as had been imposed in 2008. The non-mandatory obligations included a \$70 sheriff's return of service fee, a \$500 appointed attorney recoupment fee, and a \$2,211.56 jury demand fee. CP 46-47. The court made no individualized inquiry into Mr. Herrera Castro's ability to pay the fees in either the original sentencing (6/23/2008) or the resentencing hearing. (5/2/2017).

The court did not provide an opportunity for Mr. Herrera

Castro to allocute before imposing sentence, and when Mr. Herrera

Castro objected, the court ended the hearing. 5/2/17 RP 24. Mr.

Herrera Castro appealed the court's rulings. CP 147.

The Court of Appeals declined to exercise its discretion under *Blazina*, noting that it was an unpreserved error. The Court

did, however, review the jury demand fee, finding it was not authorized by statute and remanded for correction. *Slip Op.* at 8.

The Court found the sentence correction hearing was merely ministerial and as a result Mr. Herrera Castro had no right to allocution. *Slip Op.* at 7.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. Under State v. Blazina, State v. Ramirez, and RCW 10.01.160(3), The Statutory Amendments Should Apply To Individuals Whose Case Is On Appeal After Trial Court Action.

The question here is whether a case which is final on the merits, but returned to the trial court for sentence correction entitles the defendant to the benefit of the changes to legal financial obligation law under *Blazina*, *Ramirez*, and RCW 10.01.160(3).

Within the past four years, this Court has held that RCW 10.01.160(3) (2015) places an onus on the trial court to conduct an individualized inquiry into a defendant's future ability to pay before imposing discretionary legal financial obligations at sentencing. State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 839, 344 P.3d 680 (2015).

An adequate inquiry must include "consideration of mandatory factors set out in *Blazina*, including the defendant's incarceration and other debts, and the court rule GR 34 for

indigency. The trial court should also address what we described in *Blazina* as other 'important factors' relating to the defendant's financial circumstances including employment history, income, assets, and other financial resources, monthly living expenses, and other debts." *State v. Ramirez*, 191 Wn.2d 732, 734, 739, 426 P.3d 714 (2018).

After *Blazina* but prior to *Ramirez*, the State legislature amended RCW 10.01.160(3) to categorically prohibit the imposition of discretionary costs on indigent defendants. LAWS of 2018 ch. 269, § 6(3). In *Ramirez*, this Court held that the newly amended statute applied prospectively, because the statutory amendments pertain to costs and a case on direct review is not yet final. *Ramirez* 191 Wn.2d at 747.

Individuals who were sentenced pre-*Blazina* and are returned to the trial court for sentence correction should have the same right to review under *Blazina* and RCW 10.01.160(3) as those whose cases are on their first direct appeal because denial does not achieve legitimate state objectives.

Under a rational basis equal protection analysis, equal protection of the law is upheld unless it rests on grounds wholly

irrelevant to achievement of legitimate state objectives. U.S. Const. Amend. 14, § 1, Wash. Const. Art. 1, § 12.

The legitimate state objective in prohibiting accrual of interest and imposition of discretionary costs on indigent defendants is to allow defendants to re-enter society, not overly burdened by debt. Failure by indigent offenders to pay off debt means a retention of jurisdiction over released impoverished offenders long after they are released from prison, negative consequences for employment, housing, and finances, and a higher chance of recidivism. *Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d at 837¹.

Individuals, like Mr. Herrera Castro should have the opportunity to have their legal financial obligations reviewed. It is an arbitrary distinction to prevent indigent offenders from having them reviewed as they stand before the trial court for a sentence correction hearing.

¹ In *Blazina* this Court held that each appellate court must make its own decision to accept discretionary review in the context of a claimed error not objected to at trial. *Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d at 835. This Court accepted review of *Blazina* on the basis of national and local cries for reform of a broken LFO system. *Id.*

B. Mr. Herrera Castro Was Wrongfully Denied An Opportunity To Petition The Trial Court For A Mitigated Sentence When He Was Denied Allocution.

In *State v. McFarland*, 189 Wn.2d 47, 399 P.3d 1106 (2017), this Court held that a statutory analysis supporting the Court's decision in *Mulholland*, applies to sentencing for multiple firearm related offenses under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(c). At the time that Mr. Herrera Castro was initially sentenced, the trial court ran the serious violent offenses consecutive to one another and 144 months of firearm enhancements concurrent with one another. (6/23/08 RP 26-27; 5/2/17 RP 20). The record shows a confused judge, prosecutor and defense attorney. (6/23/08 RP 17-22). The trial court deliberately imposed the low end of the sentencing range. (6/23/08 RP 22). The trial court said, "I will impose the consecutive sentences as mandated by law...". (6/23/08 RP 22). And then imposed concurrent sentences for some of the firearm related offenses.

At the sentence correction hearing in 2017, the trial court said, 'These firearm enhancements, you argue, run consecutive, and the judge had no authority to run them concurrent in any way; he was mandated to run them consecutive. Correct?" (5/2/17 RP

6). And again, "[w]here Judge Jorgenson wrote in the judgment and sentence 'the firearm enhancements of Counts 5 through 8 will run concurrently—and concurrently with Count 2.' That's what the state argues was not just error, but the judge had no authority to- to do that by law; there was no discretion allowed, that was just an error." (5/2/17 RP 20).

The sentence correction court was incorrect under *Mulholland* and *McFarland*. The court indeed had the discretion to consider whether running the firearm related offenses concurrently. RCW 9.94A.535 authorizes concurrent sentencing as an exceptional sentence for multiple firearm convictions under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(c). The Hard Time for Armed Crime Act does not preclude exceptional sentences downward. When RCW 9.94A.589 (1)(c) was enacted, it was after the Hard Time for Armed Crime Act, and this Court has held "[w]e presume the Legislature is aware of its prior enactments and judicial construction of them." *McFarland*, 189 Wn.2d at 55.

A trial court errs when it operates under the erroneous belief that it does not have the discretion to impose a mitigated exceptional sentence for which a defendant may be eligible. *State v. Mulholland*, 161 Wn.2d 322, 333, 166 P.3d 677 (2007).

Here, Mr. Herrera Castro had no opportunity to bring this error to the trial court's attention because he was not given an opportunity to speak. The court was aware Mr. Herrera Castro wanted both a new attorney and to speak. The court simply said, "I've made my ruling, I've signed the judgment and sentence. And you have the right to appeal." (5/2717 RP 23).

This Court has the authority to address arguments belatedly raised when necessary to produce a just resolution. *McFarland*, 189 Wn.2d at 57. Because Mr. Herrera Castro was unable to argue the case for a lawful mitigated exceptional sentence under RCW 9.94A.545, this Court should remand with instructions to allow Mr. Herrera Castro to speak on his own behalf for an exceptional downward sentence.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts and authority, Mr. Herrera

Castro respectfully asks this Court to grant his petition for review.