FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/13/2019 9:47 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 96856-0

Court of Appeals No. 35288-9-III

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

## ALEJANDRO HERRERA-CASTRO,

Petitioner.

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO (CORRECTED)

#### PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

GARTH DANO
PROSECUTING ATTORNEY

Kevin J. McCrae – WSBA #43087 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

PO BOX 37 EPHRATA WA 98823 (509)754-2011

## **

#### A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington was the Petitioner below and is the Respondent in the appeal.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State asks the court to deny review of the Court of Appeals decision.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. What is the scope of permissible action when the trial court is correcting a facially invalid judgment and sentence?
- Did the Supreme Court overrule State v. Brown, 139 Wn.2d 20,
   P.2d 608 (1999) sub silentio in State v. McFarland, 189 Wn.2d 47,
   399 P.3d 1106, 1107 (2017)?
- 3. In order to impose a mitigated sentence must a defendant still show facts that would merit a mitigated sentence?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A jury found Mr. Herrera-Castro guilty of nine crimes: second degree kidnapping of Ms. Suarez; first degree kidnapping of Luis, Juan, and Mr. Ibarra Suarez; second degree assault of Ms. Suarez, Luis, Juan, and Mr. Ibarra Suarez; and gross misdemeanor harassment of Mr. Ibarra Suarez. The trial court sentenced Mr. Herrera-Castro to standard range sentences, with the sentences to run concurrently except for consecutive sentencing of the three first degree kidnappings. Mr. Herrera-Castro

appealed. The Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished decision in *State v. Herrera-Castro*, No. 27244-3-III, 2009 Wash. App. LEXIS 1787 (Ct. App. July 23, 2009).

In November 2016 the Department of Corrections (DOC) contacted the State to assist in reading the judgment and sentence. CP 35. The State concluded that the judgment and sentence reflected a sentence that is invalid on its face, and therefore could not assist DOC in interpreting the judgment and sentence in accordance with applicable law.

The judgment and sentence included: Count 1 kidnapping in the second degree, Count 2 kidnapping in the first degree, Count 3 kidnapping in the first degree, Count 5 assault in the second degree, Count 6 assault in the second degree, Count 7 assault in the second degree, Count 8 assault in the second degree and Count 12, a misdemeanor harassment count. CP 60-61. The court sentenced Mr. Herrera-Castro to the low end on each count, added the firearm enhancement to the time for each count, but did not break down what part was the firearm count, and found that the assault 2 counts were the same criminal conduct as the kidnapping counts. The court ordered that Counts 2, 3 and 4 run consecutively, as well as the firearm enhancement from Count 1. CP 67-68. In a handwritten notation the sentencing court ordered the firearm enhancements from the assault in the second degree to run

concurrently to each other and to Count 2. CP 68. The court left the "actual months of total confinement" line blank.

The State moved to correct the judgment and sentence under CrR 7.8. It noted that it was collaterally attacking the judgment; the motion was untimely, but the judgment was facially invalid, thus exempt from the time bar. CP 36. The reason the State noted the judgment and sentence was facially invalid is that it ran firearm enhancements concurrently, contrary to law. It also noted that the judgment was unclear, but that fact did not make it facially invalid. *Id.* The trial court granted the State's CrR 7.8 motion and signed a corrected judgment and sentence. CP 126-44.

Mr. Herrera-Castro appealed, challenging the legal financial obligations in his sentence as well as the failure of the trial court to allow allocution. The Court of Appeals primarily affirmed, holding that the hearing was a correction of a facially invalid judgment and sentence, not a resentencing. The Court of Appeals did order the removal of a facially invalid legal financial obligation.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

1. Untimely collateral attacks based on facial invalidity of the judgment and sentence are limited to correcting the facial invalidity.

The State's motion was an untimely collateral attack under CrR 7.8 on the judgement and sentence based on the fact that the judgment and

Sentence was facially invalid. RCW 10.73.090. Notably the Supreme Court has held that a judgment and sentence that is invalid on its face does not open the door for all other possible claims. *In re Adams*, 178 Wn.2d 417, 425, 309 P.3d 451, 454 (2013). Thus any claims regarding legal finical obligations are time barred, unless they are facially invalid. The Court of Appeals did remand for correction of one facially invalid LFO. Mr. Herrera-Castro does not even attempt to show his other LFO's are facially invalid. Thus the Court is without authority to change the LFO's. Because this issue has already been resolved by *Adams* there is no question requiring Supreme Court review.

Mr. Herrera-Castro argues there is no rational basis not to review the financial obligations. However, the finality of sentences, as described in *Adams*, is a rational reason not to open every can of worms in a judgment and sentence when one thing requires correction.

In addition RAP 16.4(d) prohibits relief on this ground. Mr. Herrera-Castro has other adequate relief for his legal financial obligations. RCW 10.01.160(4) allows Mr. Herrera-Castro to petition the court for relief after his confinement, and his needs during confinement are taken care of by DOC. As he has a statutory avenue for relief, a collateral attack on these grounds is impermissible.

# 2. State v. Brown, 139 Wn.2d 20, 983 P.2d 608 (1999), prohibits courts from mitigating firearm enhancements.

Mr. Herrera-Castro confuses firearm enhancements, imposed under RCW 9.94A.533, and sentences for firearm related crimes, imposed under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(c). State v. McFarland discusses whether mitigated sentences can apply to the crimes of possession of a stolen firearm/theft of a firearm under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(c). McFarland relied on the reasoning of In re Mulholland, 161 Wn.2d 322, 328, 166 P.3d 677, 680 (2007). Mulholland in turn relied upon language in RCW 9.94A.535, the statute that defines the standards for a mitigated sentence. It states "A departure from the standards in RCW 9.94A.589 (1) and (2) governing whether sentences are to be served consecutively or concurrently is an exceptional sentence subject to the limitations in this section..." The question in Mulholland and McFarland is whether mitigated sentences applied just to sentences under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a), or whether they also applied to sentences under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b) and (c).

In this case Mr. Herrera-Castro was not sentenced under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(c). Thus *McFarland* is irrelevant to any analysis of his sentence. That subsection simply does not apply. Instead he was sentenced under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) for his non serious violent crimes, RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b) for his serious violent crimes (kidnapping 1) and

RCW 9.94A.533 for the firearm enhancements. Notably, Mr. Herrera-Castro was sentenced for his original trial after *Mullholland* was decided. He could have put forward an argument for a mitigated sentence on the serious violent crimes running consecutively then, but did not.

Here Mr. Herrera-Castro appears to argue that he should have been entitled to argue for a mitigated sentence for his firearm enhancements, citing *McFarland*. However, as noted above, *McFarland* said nothing about firearm enhancements. *State v. Brown*, 139 Wn.2d 20, 29, 983 P.2d 608, 613 (1999), overruled in part by *State v. Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d 1, 391 P.3d 409 (2017), held that firearm enhancements may not be mitigated based on the language of RCW 9.94A.533. *McFarland* does not address 9.94A.533, and thus does not overrule *Brown*.

Houston-Sconiers does not overrule Brown as it regards adults.<sup>1</sup>

Justice Madsen, in her concurrence, argues that Brown should have been entirely overruled as it regards firearm enhancements. She only gathered the concurrence of one other justice. Houston-Sconiers was decided in March of 2017. McFarland was decided in August of 2017. It is highly improbable that the Supreme Court sub silentio overruled Brown in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It does overrule Brown on VIII Amendment grounds in regards to juveniles.

*McFarland*, when it was expressly invited to do so by two justices only six months earlier, and declined.

Nor does Mr. Herrera-Castro even attempt to make a showing that *Brown* is incorrect or harmful. In the 20 years since Brown was decided the legislature has had every opportunity to overrule it. They have not done so. Thus, Mr. Herrera-Castro cannot seek a mitigated sentence on his firearm enhancements, as the trial court had no authority to impose a mitigated sentence. There is no conflict of cases and no significant question of law that has not been decided, thus Supreme Court review is both unnecessary and inappropriate in this case.

# 3. Mr. Herrera-Castro does not assert any facts that would entitle him to a mitigated sentence.

In deciding whether to grant a mitigated sentence there are two determinations a court must make as a matter of law before deciding whether to grant a mitigated sentence as a matter of discretion. The first is whether the law allows a mitigated sentence given the criminal statutes violated. This is the question *Brown, Mullholland, Houston-Sconiers* and *McFarland* addressed. The second question is basically a sufficiency of evidence question. Given the facts of the case, is there sufficient evidence to impose an exceptional sentence? Cases that address this issue include *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 358 P.3d 359 (2015); *State v. Ha'mim*,

132 Wn.2d 834, 840, 940 P.2d 633 (1997); State v. Fowler, 145 Wn.2d 400, 38 P.3d 335 (2002), and many others. See annotations to RCW 9.94A.535. Indeed, an Appellate Court reviewing an exceptional sentence must evaluate whether the reasons supplied by the sentencing court are supported by the record. RCW 9.94A.585(4)(a). Here Mr. Herrera-Castro has never, in his original sentencing, the hearing to correct his judgment and sentence nor in his appellate briefs, offered a single fact that would justify a mitigated sentence. There have to be some facts in the record to support a mitigated sentence. There are none. Again, this is straightforward law that does not conflict with any case or raise a significant question of law.

# 4. Mr. Herrera-Castro was not resentenced. There were simply corrections to his judgment and sentence to fix errors.

Mr. Herrera-Castro argues that he should have been entitled to a full resentencing, entitled to argument and reconsideration of everything that went into his sentence. This is simply not the case. The trial court was limited to correcting a facially invalid "concurrent" to a mandatory "consecutive". This was a ministerial task. The court did not have the ability to consider an exceptional sentence. For that matter, the State did

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> And, as the Court of Appeals pointed out, a facially invalid LFO.

not have the ability to ask for any other sentence other than the low end of the standard range, which is what the original trial judge imposed.

#### F. CONCLUSION

Mr. Herrera-Castro was not resentenced. There was a correction to his facially invalid judgment and sentence. Under *Adams* he is not entitled to reopen his whole case. Even if he was, there is no ability for the court to grant a mitigated sentence under *Brown*. There is no important question of law for the Supreme Court to decide. The petition for review should be denied.